10 Mg

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant,

Case No: 67,890, 67,926, 68,641

vs.

STEVEN L. SOMMERS

Respondent.

CLERK, SUFREY CHAT

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Counsel for Respondent John A. Weiss P. O. Box 1167 Tallahassee, FL 32302 (904) 681-9010

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to Article
V Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

The instant proceedings are the result of three complaints filed in the Supreme Court alleging 12 counts of misconduct by Respondent. All three complaints were assigned to the Honorable Frances Jamieson, Circuit Judge, for hearing. Final hearing on all three cases was held on May 9, 1986.

Prior to and during hearing, Respondent and The Bar stipulated to virtually all facts alleged and Respondent acknowledged guilt in 10 of the 12 counts alleged by The Bar. On those ten counts, the parties entered into a stipulation as to the disciplinary rules violated and, if appropriate, the amount of restitution Respondent would make to the respective complainant.

On June 20, 1985, the Referee filed a separate report for each of the three complaints brought by The Florida Bar. In case 67,890, (one of the cases Respondent contested) she recommended a private reprimand and six months probation. In cases 67,926 and 68,641, the Referee recommended suspension from the practice of law for six months and thereafter until rehabilitation is proved and that Respondent further receive chemical abuse counseling. The Referee did not specify whether the two six month suspensions were consecutive or concurrent.

In her reports, the Referee found the Respondent guilty of all counts alleged by The Bar except count V (Strickland) of the

complaint filed in case 68,641.

Respondent does not appeal the Referee's findings of fact. He does appeal the discipline recommended by the Referee and asks that this court reject the Referee's recommended discipline and substitute therefore a suspension for 45 days with three years probation.

Throughout this brief, Appellant shall be referred to as either Respondent or Mr. Sommers. Appellee shall be referred to as Complainant or The Bar.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Between Respondent's answers to The Bar's complaints and requests for admission and the statements made to the court during final hearing, the parties have stipulated to virtually all the facts alleged in The Bar's complaints. To facilitate the court's consideration of this case, the facts of each count is listed below.

Case number 67,890 (Miner). In November, 1982, Irene Miner retained Respondent to handle an age discrimination matter on her behalf. She paid him \$900.00 in fees and \$60.00 for the cost of filing the action. Respondent filed the suit in the appropriate United States District Court. In January, 1984, defendant's motion for summary judgment was granted. Respondent and Mrs. Miner agreed that an appeal would be filed for a fee of

\$750.00.

Respondent filed Ms. Miner's appeal and on August 15, 1984, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court's decision.

In approximately September, 1984, Ms. Miner requested the return of various documents delivered to Respondent to assist him in the preparation of her case. Despite several demands from Ms. Miner extending through February, 1985, Respondent did not return any of her documents to her.

Ms. Miner never paid any portion of the \$750.00 fee charged for the filing of her appeal.

At final hearing, Respondent argued that the facts of this case did not warrant a finding that he violated DR 9-102 (B) (3) (return of trust property) as alleged by The Bar.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of the aforementioned disciplinary rule and recommended that he be privately reprimanded and that he be placed on probation for a period of six months.

Case number 67,926.

Count I (Nicholson) In March, 1983, Barry Nicholson retained Respondent to represent him in a labor dispute and paid Respondent a \$1,000.00 initial retainer fee. Respondent filed suit on Mr. Nicholson's behalf and initially prosecuted the case in a responsible manner.

In approximately March 1, 1985, having heard nothing from Respondent for a lengthy period of time, Mr. Nicholson began

telephoning and writing Respondent on a frequent basis demanding a status report on his case and the return of certain documents in Respondent's files. Respondent failed to return any of Mr. Nicholson's communications.

Mr. Nicholson's case was still pending in the appropriate court as of the date of final hearing.

The parties stipulated that Mr. Nicholson was entitled to a \$500.00 refund of unearned fees.

Count II (Chestnut)

In July, 1984, Respondent was retained by Jeffrey Chestnut to represent him in a proceeding to dissolve his marriage. Mr. Chestnut paid Respondent \$400.00 as an advance fee for his services. Other than a meeting with Mr. Chestnut in July, 1985 and gathering information from him pertinent to a financial affidavit, Respondent took no action on Mr. Chestnut's behalf.

Subsequent to being retained by Mr. Chestnut, Respondent moved his law office without notice to his client. Thereafter, Mr. Chestnut attempted to contact Respondent at his old location without success.

Mr. Chestnut's cause of action was not prejudiced by Respondent's neglect. The parties stipulated that he was entitled to a \$400.00 refund.

The parties stipulated that Respondent violated various disciplinary rules in this count. However, the Referee listed Disciplinary Rule 7-101 (A) (3) on page 1 of her report relative

this count through typographical error. It should read DR 7-101 (A) (2). In fact, the parties stipulated that Disciplinary Rule 7-101 (A) (3) was not violated.

Count III (Snowe)

In March, 1984, Respondent was retained by Ms. Sandra H. Snowe to represent her in an employment discrimination action against the United States Navy. Upon retaining Respondent, Ms. Snowe paid him a \$1,000.00 fee and \$150.00 for filing costs. In October, 1984, Respondent filed suit in the appropriate United States District Court. However, Respondent never perfected service of process on the appropriate defendant. On May 6, 1985, Ms. Snowe's case was dismissed without prejudice. However, the time for filing suit has elapsed.

Ms. Snowe had no contact with Respondent subsequent to December 19, 1984 despite her writing letters to Respondent in February, March and April, 1985.

Before the Referee, Respondent stipulated that Ms. Snowe was entitled to Restitution in the amount of \$1,000.00.

Case number 68,641.

Count I (Farnham)

In June, 1983, Richard L. Farnham retained Respondent to represent him in an employment dispute with Boeing Services International. Respondent originally filed the case in State court. However, upon defendant's motion, it was removed to United States District Court. On February 17, 1984, that court sent the case back to State court where it was delayed by matters

outside of Respondent's control.

In February and March, 1985, upon defendant's motions, two of the counts of the complaint were dismissed resulting in Respondent's filing an amended complaint in April, 1985. Thereafter, Respondent failed to move the case along and to communicate adequately with his client despite telephone calls and letters that he received from Mr. Farnham.

Mr. Farnham's case has not been prejudiced. The parties stipulated that no refund of fees is warranted.

Count II (Oh)

In January, 1984, Young Hwan Oh, retained Respondent to handle an immigration matter for Mr. Oh. Respondent received \$350.00 of a \$500.00 fee.

Respondent filed the initial paperwork to obtain the relief sought by Mr. Oh. However, he did not follow up on his application and after June, 1984, Ms. Oh lost contact with Respondent. In July, 1985, Ms. Oh retained other counsel for an additional fee of \$800.00 and the relief that she sought was obtained.

Counsel for the parties have stipulated that Ms. Oh is entitled to a \$200.00 refund of unearned fees.

Count III (Prothero)

In October, 1983, Sue C. Prothero retained Respondent to handle a wrongful termination of employment case. She paid him an initial retainer of \$1,000.00.

After filing a complaint on behalf of Ms. Prothero, in

November, 1984, Respondent attended a preliminary hearing on her behalf. Subsequently, in approximately December of that year Respondent filed an amended complaint. Thereafter, Ms. Prothero received no communications from Respondent despite several attempts to do so.

The parties have stipulated that Ms. Prothero is entitled to a refund of \$500.00.

Count IV (Meier)

Respondent was retained by Paul Meier in January, 184 to represent him in a cause of action against Pan American Airways. He paid Respondent an initial retainer of 1,000.00.

After filing suit in the appropriate state court, Respondent successfully resisted defendant's motions to dismiss. In January, 1985, Respondent attended depositions taken by both parties in the action. Thereafter, Mr. Meier's attempts to contact his lawyer were unsuccessful.

In September, 1985, the presiding Judge filed <u>sua sponte</u> a motion to dismiss for failure to prosecute. The court withdrew the motion when it learned that depositions had been taken in January, 1985 in furtherance of Mr. Meier's cause of action.

Mr. Meier has obtained new counsel and his cause of action has not been prejudiced by Respondent's failure to communicate.

The parties have stipulated that Mr. Mier is not entitled to any refund of the fees paid to Respondent.

Count V (Strickland)

The Referee found Respondent not guilty of the charges

filed by The Florida Bar in this count.

In late June, 1985, Respondent was consulted by Cynthia Strickland regarding a sexual discrimination case that she was contemplating. She paid him a \$30.00 consultation fee.

Subsequent to their initial conference, Ms. Strickland delivered her file to Respondent for review and to determine if Mr. Sommers would represent her in her case. At the time that the file was delivered to Respondent, the 90 day period in which Ms. Strickland had to file suit had begun to run.

Respondent kept Ms. Strickland's file for approximately 30 days. However, he did not return her numerous telephone calls relative the return of her file. Ms. Strickland was ultimately able to retain her file from Respondent's secretary prior to the expiration of the 90 day suit.

Count VI (Williams)

Respondent represented Earnest Williams in numerous law suits in both State and Federal court. In one of the suits, the case was taken to trial and the presiding magistrate found for the defendant. Mr. Williams then paid \$400.00 to Respondent to appeal the magistrate's decision. Respondent did not file the appeal and lost contact with his client after January, 1985. Mr. Williams subsequently obtained new counsel to represent him on appeal. The parties stipulated that the \$400.00 paid for the appeal should be refunded.

Count VII (Gunter)

In April, 1984, Jerry Gunter retained Respondent to

represent him in a discrimination case against Coca-Cola Company. Mr. Gunter had previously filed his case personally on January 12, 1984 in United States District Court. Respondent received a fee of \$700.00 to prosecute Mr. Gunter's cause of action.

In May, 1984, Mr. Gunter received an order dismissing his case without prejudice. Respondent had not filed a notice of appearance between the time he was retained in April, 1984 and the dismissal order. When he contacted Respondent relative the dismissal, Mr. Gunter was told that Respondent could refile the case since it was dismissed without prejudice. Thereafter, however, Respondent did not file a new suit and Mr. Gunter's cause of action is now barred.

The parties stipulate that Mr. Gunter is entitled to a refund of \$700.00.

Count VIII (Branson)

In August, 1984, Daniel L. Branson retained Respondent to represent him in an employment dispute with the United States Postal Service. He paid Respondent \$1,000.00 as an initial fee. On August 22, 1984, Respondent filed a complaint in the United States District Court. On February 11, 1985, the court directed plaintiff to show cause why the action should not be dismissed without prejudice for failure to perfect service of process. Respondent responded to the Show Cause Order on February 26, 1985. Approximately one month later, defendant filed a motion to dismiss for improper service of process. Respondent did not respond to that motion. Thereafter, Respondent did no further

work on the case resulting in dismissal of Mr. Branson's cause of action.

Because the appropriate filing deadlines have passed, Mr. Branson's cause of action is now barred.

The parties have stipulated that Mr. Branson is entitled to a refund of he entire \$1,000.00 that he paid to Respondent.

Other than Respondent, the only witnesses that testified at final hearing in the disciplinary case were three individuals that Respondent called to present evidence in mitigation of discipline.

The first witness to testify was Dr. George Von Hilsheimer, a licensed psychologist with a Ph.D. in that field. Dr. Von Hilsheimer has been treating behavioral disorders, including persons involved in substance abuse, since 1957. He testified that Mr. Sommers first came to him on June 5, 1985. Dr. Von Hilsheimer diagnosed Mr. Sommers as suffering from severe depression with substance abuse causing complications (TR 28). At that time, Dr. Von Hilsheimer did not feel that the substance abuse was Mr. Sommers' primary problem. After approximately one month of treatment Mr. Sommers broke off the relationship and did not reappear until October, 1985 (TR 31).

Dr. Von Hilsheimer testified that he felt that Respondent's chemical dependency was an attempt at self-treatment (TR 31) and initially he did not feel like any institutional drug treatment was necessary. When Mr. Sommers reappeared in October, however, Dr. Von Hilsheimer referred Respondent to an expert on substance

abuse who determined that Respondent's condition was approaching a "terminal stage" (TR 34). Subsequently, in January, 1986, Respondent entered Brookwood Rehabilitation Center for six weeks in-house treatment. Upon Respondent's discharge in February, Dr. Von Hilsheimer has been seeing Respondent on a weekly basis.

Dr. Von Hilsheimer testified that Respondent would be able to handle a law practice and that his prognosis for recovery is good (TR 36-37). Dr. Von Hilsheimer based his prognosis on his 85% success rate over a 30 year period (TR 38).

During cross examination, Dr. Von Hilsheimer testified that Respondent has always appeared for his appointments and that Dr. Von Hilsheimer had no questions about his judgment or his ability to follow through on decisions (TR 41). He also testified that after 12 or 13 weeks of treatment (respondent was past that point at the time of final hearing) that the success rate for people such as Respondent was up to 70% (TR 44).

Respondent's second witness was Judith L. Leeper, counselor at the Brookwood Recovery Center. She was Respondent's counselor while Respondent was residing in Brookwood. testified that Respondent's initial diagnosis was chemical dependency and that it had progressed to the chronic stage (TR 5Ø). She testified that Respondent participated in educational sessions and that, after a time, came to completely accept the fact that he was addicted to drugs. Ultimately, Respondent wholeheartedly accepted the AA and NA precepts and became an enthusiastic participant in those programs (TR 52-53).

After Respondent's discharge on February 26, 1986, he continued with the Brookwood after care program and weekly AA or NA meetings.

Ms. Leeper testified that she would have no problem referring clients to Respondent for representation.

Respondent's final witness was Samuel A. Bradshaw, Jr. Mr. Bradshaw testified that he had known Respondent for only three or four months and that he met him through the Brookwood after care program. Mr. Bradshaw is the facilitator (moderator) for Mr. Sommers' after care group and that through their weekly meetings, Mr. Bradshaw had observed Respondent's wholeharted participation in the program.

Mr. Bradshaw testified that several weeks prior to final hearing he had retained Mr. Sommers to represent Mr. Bradshaw in a modification action brought by Mr. Bradshaw's ex-wife. Respondent had attended final hearing on the matter and obtained a decision favorable to his client. Mr. Bradshaw testified that he was very pleased with Respondent's services, that Respondent dealt with his case in a competent and professional manner and that he would have no reservations about referring others to Respondent for legal help (TR 64).

Finally, Respondent testified on his own behalf. He was admitted to The Florida Bar on May 31, 1977 after graduating with honors from The University of Florida Law School in December, 1976. While at law school, Respondent was a member of the Law Review and had two works published by the University of Florida

Law Review.

Respondent initially worked for the National Labor Relations Board in Tampa, Florida. In February, 1981 he left the NLRB to work for a law firm in Memphis, Tennessee. In October, 1981, Respondent left Memphis and moved to Orlando to enter the private practice of law.

In August, 1984, the office sharing arrangement that he had with two other lawyers broke up and he became in-house counsel for the Hotel Employees and Restaurant Employees International Union in Orlando, Florida. From that date until final hearing, he was the sole in-house counsel for that union. His employment agreement allows him to take private clients.

Respondent testified that while residing at Brookwood he was allowed to leave to attend a previously scheduled arbitration hearing for a union employee. The matter was satisfactorily resolved.

Respondent also testified that he had never had disciplinary problems with The Florida Bar prior to this series of cases (TR 71). He explained that he had always prided himself on his professionalism and that it was not until August, 1984 that his professionalism began to diminish. He attributed this degredation of his practice to his beginning to use drugs on a "recreational" basis in April, 1984. By August, that use exceeded a recreational basis and began to affect his ability to reason and his judgment. He testified that it "led to an obvious lack of representation of my clients and diligence in my practice" (TR 72).

Respondent testified that alcohol was not a factor in his dependency at all.

Respondent's use of drugs initially affected him only to the extent that he would put off his clients' matters until the last minute (TR 73). Up until early 1985, Respondent testified that he would go into his office on a daily business and take care of matters at the last minute. However, after that point in time, his practice "just feel into disarray" (TR 73).

Although initially Respondent answered correspondence from the Bar, in approximately March, 1985, he ceased opening correspondence from The Florida Bar because he "knew that it was bad" news (TR 76).

Respondent first sought help from Dr. Von Hilsheimer in June, 1985 and saw him for about a month. In August, 1985, Respondent ceased the use of drugs and for approximately three weeks was able to do so. However, his abstinance ceased and in October he returned to Dr. Von Hilsheimer's care.

Respondent testified that other than the Miner count, he waived probable cause on all matters brought by The Florida Bar. He appeared before the grievance committee at one point in time and voluntarily admitted to the committee the nature of his problems (TR 77-78). On January 13, 1986, four days before he checked into Brookwood recovery center, Respondent ceased the use of drugs and has abstained from its use since that date. He was discharged on February 26, 1986 and incurred a bill of \$9,416.00

for his treatment (TR 80).

Respondent testified that he is attending NA on at least a weekly basis plus he is attending weekly meetings in Brookwood's after care treatment program. He is also seeing Dr. Von Hilsheimer or one of his associates weekly (TR 81).

Respondent acknowledged to the Judge that his problems with The Bar are completely his fault and that he is responsible for his problems (TR 82). He acknowledge the propriety of these disciplinary proceedings and understands that discipline is appropriate. As he put it,

The Bar entrusted me and held me out to the public as a competent practicing attorney, and somehow I have got to earn that trust back. Thats what I have to do. It should not be given to me; I have to earn it back. (TR 82)

Respondent has embraced the 12 steps of treatment of the AA and NA program and acknowledges that one of those steps is making amends to those that he has wronged. Respondent testified that his financial status at the time of the final hearing was "quite negative" (TR 83), and that he may have to declare bankruptcy (TR 84). He testified that if he resorts to bankruptcy that none of his obligations to his clients will be discharged. He then stipulated to those clients to whom restitution would be appropriate.

Respondent testified that he is no longer involved in the "so called drug scene" and those friends with whom he had associated during his use of drugs. He testified that he is

currently opening his mail and answering his phones and that his housekeeping and personal habits have changed for the better (TR 87-88). He further testified that he now understands that during the period that all of his grievances arose, rather than trying to deal with his problems, he was trying to avoid them (TR 88).

Respondent has managed to maintain his part-time job as in-house counsel with the union. The controlling personnel at the union are aware of his problems and are very supportive of his efforts to combat his dependency. Not only have they failed to voice any dissatisfaction with his performance, they have been very pleased with his services (TR 89).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent is a young, bright lawyer who practiced law without problems from May, 1977 until approximately April, 1984. From them until early summer 1985 his practice deteriorated to, as he now knows, drug dependency.

Respondent initially failed to work with The Florida Bar in its investigation. In fact, he did not appear at the probable cause hearing held on the first complaint brought against him. However, in late summer 1985, he grabbed hold of his life and recognized his errors. Thereafter, he waived probable cause hearings on the remaining 11 counts against him and appeared before the grievance committee and candidly apprised them of the nature of his problem.

At final hearing before the Referee, Respondent admitted guilt to 10 of The Bar's 12 charges and stipulated to the disciplinary rules violated in each of those 10 counts. He also stipulated to the amount of restitution owed to those clients entitled to a refund. Respondent's admissions and stipulations obviated the necessity of The Florida Bar putting on evidence. Respondent did testify on his own behalf as to mitigation and he also presented three witnesses to testify as to his rehabilitation from drugs.

The Referee absolved the Respondent of guilt on one of the two counts which Respondent contested. She recommended a private reprimand on the other contested count.

Despite Respondent's prior clean record, his cooperation

with The Bar, his admission of misconduct and his obvious repentence, Bar Counsel asked for a one year suspension from the practice of law with reinstatement to be predicated upon proof of rehabilitation—a factor adding another 6 to 12 months to Respondent's penalty.

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