v.

STEVEN L. SOMMERS,

Respondent.

# COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF CROSS PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

and

JOHN B. ROOT, JR. Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 605 East Robinson Street Suite 610 Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 425-5424

###

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

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court is confronted with the issue of deciding an appropriate discipline in this case in which a young attorney has been found guilty by a referee of eleven counts contained in three formal Complaints. During the course of the referee hearing the respondent admitted that he was guilty of multiple violations of the Disciplinary Rules, and that as a result of his neglect of his clients' legal problems, no fewer than four had suffered significant prejudice to their legal rights. At least three of the four clients have had their suits barred by the statute of limitations and thus have been denied their day in Court.

It is abundantly clear that the policy of this Court is that where alcoholism and, presumably, drug addiction, is the underlying cause of professional misconduct, and where the attorney is willing to cooperate and seek appropriate rehabilitation, this Court will take those circumstances into account in determining the proper discipline.

This is as it should be. However, this does not mean that use of appropriately stern attorney discipline as a deterrent should be overlooked.

The fact that an attorney is ill does not relieve him of responsibility for the conduct of his clients' affairs. Illness, short of insanity, should not convert attorney committed offenses which would otherwise make appropriate a long term suspension, into an offense worthy only of a short suspension not requiring proof of rehabilitation.

A specific purpose to be achieved by requiring proof of rehabilitation is that in cases, such as the one at bar, where the path of recuperation from the addiction has been brief, this Court and The Florida Bar can have realistic assurances that the attorney is, in fact, able to continue his upward trek. This would be accomplished at a point before other clients' interests may be endangered. It would make known to the public that this Court and The Florida Bar, do indeed, feel a responsibility to assure that the public is fully protected from attorney misconduct. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, 420 So.2d 1080, 1081 (Fla. 1982).

Therefore, while it is entirely appropriate that alcoholism and drug addiction, together with recuperation and cooperation from the afflicted attorney can, and should, be considered by this Court in approving discipline, this principle does not require substantial reduction of an otherwise appropriate discipline.

#### ARGUMENT

A DISCIPLINE EXTENDING TO ONE YEAR'S SUSPENSION WITH PROOF OF REHABILITATION, AND PROBATION INCLUDING MAN-DATORY SUBSTANCE REHABILITATION COUNSELING FOR THREE IS A MORE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE IN THESE THREE YEARS. CASES THAN IS THE SIX MONTHS SUSPENSION, PRIVATE REPRI-AND PROBATION RECOMMENDED MAND, BY THE **REFEREE OR THE** FORTY FIVE DAYS SUSPENSION WITH AUTOMATIC REINSTATEMENT FOR RE-AND THREE YEARS PROBATION ADVOCATED BY COUNSEL SPONDENT.

The three formal Complaints contained in these cases were tried by the referee on May 9, 1986, at a consolidated hearing of all three of the formal Complaints. Respondent admitted most of the facts contained in the several complaints. It is of more than passing interest, however, to note that these three formal Complaints comprise twelve counts, each of which contain a separate complaint by an individual client of this respondent. They include multi-violations of numerous rules of not only neglect, but of failing to seek the lawful objectives of his client, engaging in conduct reflecting adversely on his fitness to practice law, and failing to carry out contracts of employment.

The point to be decided in this case, the appropriate quantum of discipline to be approved, clearly raises the issue of

what consequence respondent's voluntary chemical dependence should have on that discipline.

The respondent admits that four of the eleven clients whose complaints constitute eleven of the twelve counts embraced by these three formal Complaints were in fact prejudiced by his lack of action on their behalf. At least three of these clients were, in fact, seriously prejudiced in that in each of the three cases the statute of limitations has run and they have been denied their day in court. It is worthy of note that the remaining clients whose cases were not barred, or whose causes of action have survived in spite of respondent's neglect, have experienced significant delays in establishing their rights, even though their causes of action may still exist. Some of these cases involve substantial employment rights.

While it may be true that taken separately and individually, the respective counts in these three Complaints may justify a lesser discipline, taken together, they represent a very serious breach of ethics. Ever since this Court decided the case of <u>The Florida Bar v. Brigman</u>, 307 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1975) it has approved the principle that several cases tried together, as they were in this case, can be used to justify a more serious discipline. The

Court has more recently reaffirmed the same principle in <u>The</u> Florida Bar v. Abrams, 402 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1981).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Bowles</u>, 460 So.2d 366 (Fla. 1984) this Court approved a discipline extending to suspension for eight months and restitution of certain funds to several clients in a case in which the referee had recommended findings of guilt of four counts. Any one of the four counts, separately and by itself, was not so egregious as to require suspension. Taken together, however, this Court felt that it was appropriate to award a suspension for eight months. Chemical dependence was not a factor in Bowles.

Respondent cites with approval the decision of this Court in a recent case, <u>The Florida Bar v. Garcia</u>, 485 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 1986) as precedent for awarding a public reprimand and supervised probation in a case involving only four counts of otherwise relatively minor offenses. In a strong dissent in that case, relating to the matter of discipline, Justice Ehrlich, writing for himself and Justice Shaw stated in part:

The majority is apparently of the view that the discipline for multiple infractions of the Integration and Disciplinary Rules merit less discipline than the sum of the total since it concludes that a public reprimand and two year's probation are the appropriate dis-

cipline. Considering both cases, I view the public reprimand to be nothing more than a token discipline and inappropriate here.

The proper discipline, in my opinion, is a suspension for thirty days followed by a supervised probation for two years. Anything less than this will not get respondent's attention. This will give Mr. Garcia a period of time to take stock in his career and his professional life and to make the necessary changes, if he wants to remain a practicing attorney. This will serve the public purpose of imposing this discipline.

Respondent includes in his argument reference to a Florida Bar News article which he included as Exhibit A in his Appendix. Inasmuch as this article pertains to a corporation which the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar has formed for the purpose of assisting lawyers to get treatment for drinking and drug problems before the problems get the lawyers into professional misconduct trouble with the Bar, the information is irrelevant to this case. Because it has been injected into respondent's Argument, it should be noted in passing that there is nothing stated in the philosophy of the Board of Governors in that article that suggests, recommends, or mandates that an attorney who has violated the Code of Professional Responsibility and who has been brought before the bar of justice on that account, should receive less discipline than an attorney who has violated the same Disciplinary Rules but whose conduct is not the result of either drug or alcohol impairment. In fact, this Court in The Florida Bar v.

Larkin 447 So.2d 1340, 1341 (Fla. 1984), in addressing the subject of alcoholism, and ethical violations by an attorney, stated in part:

Equally important purposes, however, are a deterrence to other members of the Bar and the creation and protection of a favorable image of the profession. The latter will not occur unless the profession imposes visible and effective disciplinary measures when serious violations occur... Alcoholism explains the violations, it does not justify them. (Emphasis supplied)

The respondent cites with approval the philosophy which he perceives to be contained in <u>The Florida Bar v. Headley</u>, 475 So.2d 1213 (Fla. 1985), <u>The Florida Bar v. Long</u>, 486 So.2d 591 (Fla. 1986), and <u>The Florida Bar v. Ehrlich</u>, 485 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1986), all of which are recent cases in this Court involving lawyer misconduct which was brought about by dependence on alcohol or other chemical substances. In <u>Headley</u>, the attorney's offense was practicing law while suspended for nonpayment of dues. This Court specifically recognized that one of the most mitigatory circumstances in this case was the fact that "...there have been no instances of bad conduct as a practicing attorney." He was not even cited for contempt of court and his actions had not adversely affected the rights or interests of any client. Therefore, the discipline approved by this Court was appropriate

for the offense of practicing law while suspended for nonpayment of dues without reference to alcoholism.

Long contains a conditional guilty plea for consent judgment, and no reference is made to the reasons for accepting such a conditional guilty plea. The Court order references alcohol abuse and provides for termination of probation if a finding of probable cause is made concerning alcohol abuse. The case was not appealed.

<u>Ehrlich</u> also contains a consent judgment for unconditional guilty plea and appears to be a case in which only three clients were involved. The charges were less egregious than those in the case at bar. This case was not appealed.

The Florida Bar is not contending, as it did in <u>Headley</u>, that this Court should not consider drug abuse as a mitigating circumstance. The Bar does, however, suggest the relevance of the words quoted from <u>Larkin</u>, supra, "Alcoholism explains the violations, it does not justify them" (At page 1341).

A very recent case in which alcoholism or other chemical addiction is not a factor is The Florida Bar v. Bergman, Case No.

67,735 (Fla. 1986). Here, Mr. Bergman was found guilty of violating Disciplinary Rules 6-101(A)(2) and 6-101(A)(3). There is no discussion of complicating factors or prior discipline and this Court approved a discipline of suspension for six months and requiring proof of rehabilitation and restitution to a client of \$7500.00 prior to reinstatement.

To approve a discipline extending only to a public reprimand or a token suspension, not requiring proof of rehabilitation, in a case of a respondent who is the victim of alcoholism or chemical addiction, while, in а similar case, meting out а substantially greater penalty to a respondent who is not addicted is not appropriate. The damage to clients would be the same. The public would find it difficult to believe that it is being fully protected by The Florida Bar when the drug addicted or alcoholic attorney who allowed the statute of limitations to expire on his case receives a substantially less severe discipline than does the non-addicted attorney.

In a case such as this, where a respondent's hospitalization for drug addiction began as recently as January 18, 1986, and terminated on February 26, 1986 (T. 49,53) this Court must be very cautious in executing its "... responsibility to assure that

the public is fully protected from attorney misconduct" (<u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, 420 So.2d 1080, at 1081 (Fla. 1982)). To approve a period of suspension which would require proof of rehabilitation would not be unduly harsh and would erect one additional safeguard against a premature return to the practice of law by this respondent.

The Florida Bar wholeheartedly endorses the teaching of this Court in Larkin, supra:

In those cases where alcoholism is the underlying cause of professional misconduct and the individual attorney is willing to cooperate in seeking alcoholism rehabilitation, we should take these circumstances into account in determining the appropriate discipline. (P-1081) (Emphasis supplied)

In accepting this premise, however, the Bar does not perceive it to require that an attorney who is suffering from drug addiction, is entitled to substantially less discipline for the same offense for which an attorney not suffering from an alcohol or drug dependency would receive.

Respondent's chemical dependency was of such a nature and was of such a duration that the cases of eleven clients were neglected even though they retained the respondent in good faith.

Three of those eleven clients suffered irreparable damage at the hands of this respondent.

The Florida Bar suggests that, considering all the circumstances and all of the mitigation presented, a discipline is required which would require that the respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of time which would require, at the very least, proof of rehabilitation so that another referee, at a later time, can review the recuperative progress of the respondent to assure this Court and the legal profession that this attorney would be able to resume the practice of law without endangering his clients' rights. If this suggestion is given life, then a suspension must be ordered which will extend to a minimum of three months and one day with proof of rehabilitation. The Bar strongly urges, however, that an appropriate discipline would be suspension for a period of not less than one year, proof of rehabilitation, and probation for a minimum of three years under the supervision of The Florida Bar's Special Committee on Alcohol Abuse. This will give the respondent time, in the dissenting words of Justice Ehrlich in Garcia, supra, to "take stock of his career and his professional life and to make the necessary changes if he wants to remain a practicing attorney. This will serve the public purpose for imposing [a] discipline" in this case.

### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar prays this Honorable Court will review the referee's reports and approve their findings of fact, recommendations of guilt and find that the discipline recommended should extend to suspension from the practice of law for one year with proof of rehabilitation, three years probation in The Florida Bar's Special Committee on Alcohol and Drug Abuse and payment of costs currently totalling \$1460.85.